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MIDDLETOWN TOWNSHIP PUBLIC SCHOOLS
Po Box 4170
Middletown, NJ 07748
732-671-3850
FAX 732-291-1035

Dominic V. Carrea
Interim Business Administrator/Board Secretary

Maria Salus Patricia C. Smith, CPA
Assistant Business Administrator/ Assistant Business Administrator/
Assistant Board Secretary Chief Accountant

October 1, 2010

Honorable President and Members

of the Board of Education
Middletown Township School District
County of Monmouth
Middletown, NJ 07748

Dear Board Members:

The comprehensive annual financial report of the Middletown Township School District (District) for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2010, is hereby submitted. Responsibility for both the accuracy of the data
and completeness and fairness of the presentation, including all disclosures, rests with the management
of the Board of Education (Board). To the best of our knowledge and belief, the data presented in this
report is accurate in all material respects and is reported in a manner designed to present fairly the
financial position and results of operations of the various funds and account groups of the District.

The comprehensive annual financial report is presented in four sections: introductory, financial,
statistical and single audit. The introductory section includes this transmittal letter, the District’s
organizational chart, and list of principal officials. The financial section includes management’s
discussion and analysis, the basic financial statements, required supplementary information and other
supplementary information as well as the auditors’ report thereon. The statistical section includes
selected financial and demographic information, generally presented on a multi-year basis. The District
is required to undergo an annual single audit in conformity with the provisions of the Single Audit Act
Amendments of 1996 and the U.S. Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133, “Audits of States,
Local Governments and Non-Profit Organizations,” and the State Treasury Circular Letter 04-04-OMB,
“Single Audit Policy for Recipients of Federal Grants, State Grants, and State Aid Payments.”
Information related to this single andit, including the auditors’ reports on internal control and compliance
with applicable laws and regulations and findings and recommendations, are included in the single audit
section of this report.



1. Reporting Entity and Its Service

The Middletown Township School District is an independent reporting entity within the criteria adopted
by the GASB. All funds of Middietown Board of Education are included in this report. The District
provides a full range of educational services appropriate to grade levels K through 12. These include
regular, vocational, as well as special education for handicapped youngsters. Middletown School
District is comprised of twelve elementary schools, three middle schools and two high schools. The
district operates an alternative high school program (Austin Academy) as well as an alternative program
at the middle school level, The Dhstrict student count at October 15, 2009 was 10,248,

2. Economic Condition and Outlook

Middletown Township has remained relatively stable insofar as residential, commercial, and industrial
growth. There has been a slight increase in residential growth from multi-unit dwellings although ratable
increases have been largely offset by a reduction in commercial ratables based on tax appeals. A
proposed commercial/residential “Town Center” may also provide tax base growth, although the size,
scope and timing of the project remain uncertain. The short-ferm status of the economies of the United
States and New Jersey remain uncertain at this time. The Township property revaluation is in effect for
2010, and is impacting individual local property owners.

Despite implementing a new State Aid formula, the aid to our Disirict has remained flat (State mandates
in the new State Aid formula are not fully funded) and the State has now again “delayed™ the final two
2009-2010 state aid payments (prior to 2008-9 only one payment was delayed). The State also withheld
over $2.8 million from our 2009-10 State Aid based on the surplus we had reserved for tax relief for
2010-11. Until the State adequately and fairly funds public education in New Jersey, local property
owners will continue to bear a disproportionately bigh percentage of the costs necessary to operate their
local school districts. The District will continue to challenge existing state aid funding formulas, seek
new sources of revenue, focus on cost contaimnment and be legislatively proactive.

3. Major Initiatives

Standardized Testing: The District has completed the review of the NJASK Tests for Grade 4 and Grade
8 and the High School Proficiency Assessment (HSPA), Grade 11.

The results of the Cycle I NTASK test on the 4® grade level for 2010 are as follows:

Language
Arts Math Science
Percent of fotal student population 719 39.0 97.7

exceeding/making State standards

The results of the Cycle I NJASK test on the 8" grade level for 2010 are as follows:

Language
Arts Math Science
Percent of fotal student population 89.6 78.5 ' 90.2

exceeding/making State standards



The results of the Cycle IT 11™ grade HSPA 2010 are as follows:

Reading Math
Percent of total student population exceeding/ 93.7 83.1
making State standards

Professional Development Activities: Professional development continued to be the highest priority in
the Middletown Township School District during the 2009-2010 school year. The central office and
building administration along with the Local Professional Development Committee reviewed and
analyzed available test data and evaluations of prior in-service training of staff as the basis to revise
curricula and programs and to use in planning further in-service to best address the needs of the students.
The focus is on moving toward student-centered, differentiated, and integrated instruction at all levels
and in all subject areas. Major staff development activities included training on how to assess reading
levels and on tiered instruction at the elementary and middle school levels as well as additional training
to support the elementary teachers and administrators in the implementation of the process writing
approach. Elementary and Middle School teachers continued to receive professional development in the
areas of the IDEAL and LEADS instructional model. Middle and Elementary teachers also received
fraining on using rubrics with meaningful PBLs. Reading Specialists continued to train staff on the
development of the model and on reading assessments. High School teachers were offered two summer
one week workshops on the High School Redesign model. These workshops focused on the delivery of
high school instruction. Back-to-back scheduling for English and History classes at the high schools was
implemented in the 2009-2010 school year. Middle school teachers continued to be trained in the use of
the Learnia assessments in language arts and mathematics so that they may have additional data to assist
them with informing instruction. The process of transitioning the “problem-centered” approach for math
instruction to high school continued and visitations by teachers to classrooms in other schools and at
other levels were arranged, New staff members at the elementary level were provided training on this
approach as well so that they would be better prepared to implement the Investigations and Connected
Math Programs at those levels. The Test of Number Knowledge was used district wide in the 2009-2010
school year. Progress Monitoring Records training continued in the elementary and middle schools. This
documentation was kept for special education students, students who were more than 2 vears behind in
literacy and math, and gifted and talented students.

Formal Professional Learning Communities {PLC) were established at each of the two high schools.
One day each month the high school schedules were adjusted to accommodate these PLCs giving
teachers the opportunity to identify and discuss curricular issues pertinent to school improvement.

Individnal schools employed consultants for major staff development activities, including mnovative
Designs in Education (IDE Consultants) who worked in the classroom with teachers as well as in
separate training sessions to assist teachers in being better prepared to differentiate instruction through
the use of Problem-Based Learning, as well as to utilize district principals and teachers with expertise in
an area to train other staff members. In particular, staff members with expertise in the use of the Co-
Teaching Model for instruction prepared the staff to provide instruction for the G&T students as well as
to the formerly pull-out resource students as the district prepared to include more students in the
mainstream classroom. The inclass instructional model for Gifted and Talented students was put in place
as well as the inclass resource instructional model for special education students. In addition, staff
members who have become proficient on the use of Smart Board technology in their subject arcas were
videotaped doing demonstration lessons made available on the district website for use by other teachers.

Training continued for the two new major new initiatives that were undertaken as the district trained
Social Studies teachers at all levels through the American Institute for History Education supported by
the “Teaching American History” Grant, and the training of the elementary teachers of World Language
on the TPRS methodology of instruction, also provided by a district principal with expertise, with the



intention of expanding the training to the middle and secondary level moving forward. Other professional
development included the training provided to the elementary guidance counselors with regard to “Social
Emotional Learning™ as well as a variety of workshops provided to the staff in general on “Teaching
Children with Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities” and the state mandated training on
“Hazardous Chemicals”, etc.

District teachers attended a variety of out-of-district single and multi-day workshops related to fulfilling
the goals of their Individual Professional Improvement Plans. To this end, our district continued to
participate with other districts in Monmouth County and Ocean County in the Brookdale Community
College Math/Science/Technology Network, which is directly related to the Core Curriculum Content
Standards and linked to pupil performance. Again, approximately 100 staff members took advantage of
this opportunity.

The Local Professional Development Committee, along with Central Office personnel and a Middle
School Principal, developed a Mentoring Plan in which each novice teacher is assigned a mentor and
those teachers selected to be a mentor has to apply for the position and have to supply three letters of
recommendation. Throughout the year, mentors and mentees attend a series of scheduled workshops and
principals in each school were encouraged to provide an opportunity for the mentor and mentee to have
release time to visit each other’s classrooms so that strategies and classroom management techniques
may be shared and demeonstrated.

Throughout the year, summary reports and analysis were presented to parents’ groups, to the
administrative council, and to the Board of Education with regard to the professional development
provided to the staff.

Special Education: With the expectation based on federal law that children with disabilities be educated
with non-disabled peers and have access to the general education curriculum, parents have placed a high
priority on inclusion and in-class resource. This has created a significant impact on staffing as more
special education teachers team with general education teachers and more personal paraprofessionals
accompany children with moderate to significant disabilities to general education classes.

The District has continued to move to an inclusive model of literacy with the IDEAL and LEADS
(NJDOE Models of Literacy Instruction) during the 2009-2010 School Year. The models are research
based, student centered, inclusive and interdisciplinary. They are focused on supporting primary students
in reading and writing instruction while connecting these skills to the content areas through a strong
focus on expository reading. While LEADS focuses on reading to learn, IDEAL, as the primary model,
focuses on learning to read. The model incorporates three tiers of instruction.

These changes are being implemented in order to support the inclusion of students with disabilities in
general education settings, with appropriate modifications and accommodations:

m to comply with required changes identified through the Self Assessment in Special Education
‘process

= to deliver services within the general education setting in order to provide support to the student
in general education with peers, to provide instruction within inclusionary settings, fo provide
team teaching models, and to eliminate the breakdown in learning when pullout resource room
settings have multiple grades and multiple levels of students

= to consider inclusionary instructional models, as per N.J.A,C., and to base this decision-making
on research, student performance, and data-driven analysis

= to support the district initiatives [IDEAL and Math Investigations (on the elementary level) and
LEADS and Connected Math (on the middle school level)



Staff’ Development: Extensive staff development was conducted in the district for Special Education
teachers and related service providers for the 2009-2010. Staff development was conducted in the
following areas:

o ABA (Applied Behavior Analysis) Manual Distribution Workshop
APA (Alternative Proficiency Assessment Training)

Assistive Technology (Tech Connections)

Aupmentative Communication in the Classroom

Autism Acceptance and Peer Mentoring

Behavior Disorders and Crisis Behavior Management

Behavior Intervention Plans

Co-Teaching for In-Class Support

EasyTRAC Training for SEMI Reporting

s  Home Instruction

e Threat Assessment/Fit to Returns

Implementation of Allowable Accommodations for Statewide Assessments
Innovative Designs in Education (IDE)

IDEAL and LEADS Training

Linda Mood-Bell Visualizing and Verbalizing

Luey Calkins Writer’s Workshop Training

Safe Physical Management Restraint Training

o  Threat Assessment/Crisis [ntervention

»  Wilson Reading in a Balanced Literacy Program

o Legally Defensible IEP’s

&

Student Assessment/ Proeress Monitoring and Intervention: Teachers and administrators are trained to
use assessment data to guide instruction. This includes the use of screening instruments (DRA2) and
interpretation of results to identify students’ guided reading levels and possible areas for intervention in
Tier 3. Also, teachers are advised to record on-going assessments to map daily instruction; this includes
running records as well as anecdotal records during guided reading. Clearly, as the data show, some
students enrolled at these levels have not mastered essential reading skills. Not all students have
developed the requisite late decoding skills needed to read effectively, nor do all students have the
vocabulary needed to help them make sense of the decoding process. Additionally, the necessary
background knowledge and skills may not be in place among English Language Learners (ELLs) to
facilitate the development of key reading and writing skills. Teachers must become aware of strategies
needed to assure that students develop these skill sets to the appropriate levels to enable them to become
strong readers.

Literacy Models/ Project Based Learning/ Oreanizing & Managing the Block: All Middletown teachers
in grades K-5 and the language arts, social studies, science and special education teachers in the middle
schools were trained in the new model of literacy instruction called IDEAL/LEADS. The model contains
three tiers of instruction. The first tier provides whole group instruction on the main objective derived
from the Core Curriculum Content Standards. The second tier consists of small group instruction, where
guided reading groups are led by the general education teacher and the special education co-teacher who
comes in to provide services at this time. The third tier is for focused intervention based on identified
student needs. During the second tier when teachers are leading guided reading groups, the remaining
students are working on Projects (Project Based Learning), which allow students to access a variety of
texts to learn more about the topics related to the theme. While working on projects, students work in
cooperative learning groups or independently research the information needed for their project. Students
are assigned both short-term and long-term projects on which they are graded. They are also asked to




report out on their topics to their peers who are held responsible for knowing about their classmates’
topics. Projects reflect the core curriculum content standards of the subject area, e.g. social studies or
science. They should challenge while enabling the student to become an independent learner.

Organizing and managing the literacy block is critical to the success of the model. Teachers learn how to
plan for each tier of instruction. They also need to know how to plan short and long-term projects that
engage the students. While students are working independently and in their cooperative reading groups,
teachers can meet with small groups of students and direct instruction to their specific learning needs,
This is a relatively new approach for many teachers, yet a critical one for the success of the model.

In Middletown, a major effort is already in place with outside consultants who provide a resource cailed
the IDEPortal. Many teachers have already been trained, and every secondary teacher has an individual
subscription to an electronic library of PBLs” organized by topic, referencing the subject areas and grade
ranges. Math teachers have been involved in a process of change for several years now — extensive use of
cooperative learning, investigations, problem solving, efc. The extension of these practices to the
Humanities compliments the district vision of a student-centered, inquiry based paradigm shift.

Structured Learning Experiences Program: The District continued the Structured Learning Experience
Program. High School students with disabilities aged 16 and over are identified through the IEP process
to participate in the Structured Learning Experience Program, Vocational interests are identified. Actual
work experiences are provided in the community one day or more per week, on such worksites as:
Meridian Health; Cost Cutters; Beacon Awards and Signs; Super Foedtown; Marshali’s; Modells; A&P;
Sports Authoerity; Horizon National Confract Services; and Riverview Hospital.

Paraprofessionals:

The procedural manual for paraprofessionals developed in February 2005 is distributed to all newly hired
paraprofessionals and administrators, with reference copies available for teachers. All newly hired
paraprofessionals meet the guidelines to be highly qualified.

A systematic initiative was implemented throughout the course of the year through the Pupil Services
administrators with the case managers to insure that the duties and responsibilities of paraprofessionals
were spelled out in each student’s IEP for every subject that the paraprofessional was needed. Those
written duties are then provided to every paraprofessional to insure that the needs of the students are
being met through that intensive service. The following training was provided to paraprofessionals:

= ABA (Applied Behavioral Analysis) Manual Distribution Workshop
e Safe Physical Management

Behavioral Disabilities Program:

The Vision Program is a self-contained structured educational setting that offers individualized
instruction and co-operative leaming in a supportive environment. The program is located at High
School North, and is comprised of several behavioral components including a levels point system,
monthly reward trips, weekly reward lunches, and individual counseling.

4, Internal Control

Management of the District is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal control designed to
ensure that the assets of the District are protected from loss, theft, or misuse and to ensure that adequate
accounting data is compiled to allow for the preparation of financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). Internal control is designed to provide reasonable, but



not absolute, assurance that these objectives are met. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes
that: (1) the cost of a control should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived; and (2) the valuation of
costs and benefits requires estimates and judgments by management.

As a recipient of federal and state financial assistance, the District is also responsible for ensuring that
adequate internal control is in place to ensure compliance with applicable laws and regulations related to
those programs. Internal control is also subject to periedic evaluation by the District management.

As part of the District’s single audit described carlier, tests are made to determine the adequacy of

internal control, including that portion related to federal and state financial assistance programs, as well
as to determine that the District has complied with applicable laws and regulations.

5. Budgetary Controls

As an integral part of internal control, the District maintains budgetary controls. The objective of these
budgetary controls is to ensure compliance with legal provisions embodied in the annual appropriated
budget approved by the voters of the municipality. Annual appropriated budgets are adopted for the
general fund, the special revenue fund, and the debt service fund. Project-length budgets are approved
for the capital improvements accounted for in the capital projects fund, The final budget amount as
amended for the fiscal year is reflected in the financial section.

An encumbrance accounting system is used to record outstanding purchase commitments on a line item
basis. Open encumbrances at year-end are either canceled or are included as reappropriations of fund
balance in the subsequent year. Those amounts to be reappropriated are reported as reservations of fund
balance at June 30, 2010,

6. Accounting System and Reports

The District’s accounting records reflect generally accepted accounting principles, as promulgated by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The accounting system of the District is organized
on the basis of funds. These funds are explained in “Notes to Financial Statements,” Note 1.

The financial report has been prepared in conformity with GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial
Statements — and Management’s Discussion and Analysis — for State and Local Governments, issued in
June 1999. In fiscal year 2002, the District adopted this new standard. GASB 34 creates a new set of
basic financial statements for reporting on the District’s financial activities. The supplemental
information schedules (J schedules) reflect the changes and detail required (where available) by GASB
44,

7. Cash Management

The investment policy of the District is guided in large part by state statute as detailed in “Notes to
Financial Statements,” Note 2. The District utilizes a cash management plan that requires it to deposit
public funds in public depositories protected from loss under the provisions of the Governmental Unit
Deposit Protection Act (“GUDPA™).

GUDPA was enacted in 1970 to protect Governmental Units from a loss of funds on deposit with a failed
banking institution in New Jersey. The law requires governmental units to deposit public funds only in
public depositories located in New Jersey, where the funds are secured in accordance with the Act.



8. Risk Management

The Board carries various forms of insurance, including but not limited to general liability, automobile
liability and comprehensive/collision, student accident, workers compensation, hazard and theft
insurance on property and contents and fidelity bonds.

9. Major Operational or Financial Concerns

The 2010-2011 budget was defeated and subsequent budget defeats and budget cuts could have a
tremendous impact on the District’s operations. State Aid for the 2010-11 School Year was cut by over
$7 million, The District remains concerned about the level of current and future funding from State Aid.
The allocated amounts and the delaying of State Aid payments (now the State is delaying the last two
State Aid payments) while costs continue to increase will have a negative impact on local property taxes
and may seriously affect the District’s ability to secure the passage of future budgets.

In an effort to address state aid and legislated cost containment measures, the District continues to take a
proactive role with legislation. The district continues to be negatively impacted by legislation known as
S-1701, and notably the surplus provisions, which require districts to keep surplus at 2%. This fund
balance threshold is precariously low, and mandating a reduction to 2% every year can cause significant
fluctuations in school taxes from year to year.

The district is also concerned about certain provisions of the State Aid formula. The district is currently
receiving over $8 million in ‘adjustment aid” (after having $2.8 withheld in 2009-10), and there is
concern regarding that aid being sustained by the State over the long-term. The district will continue to
challenge the new State Aid formula in terms of fully funding State mandates, providing aid based on
actual classification rates and determining aid based on ‘wealth equalizations’ that only include a
community’s residential income.

Finally, the district remains concerned about the impact of the Township’s 2009 property revaluation and
the outcome of some commercial tax appeals that could negatively affect Middletown’s ratable base. The
ratable base did decrease by 4% for 2010. The district is also concerned about the local impact of the
Country’s current economic condition, volatility and future outlook.

10. Other Information

State statutes require an annual andit by independent certified public accountants or registered municipal
accountants. The accounting firm of Holman & Frenia, P.C. was selected by the board. In addition to
meeting the requirements set forth in state statutes, the audit also was designed to meet the requirements
of the Single Audit Act Amendments of 1996 and the related OMB Circular A-133 and State Treasury
Circular Letter 04-04-OMB. The auditors’ report on the basic financial statements, required
supplementary information, and other supplementary information are included in the financial section of
this report. The auditors’ reports related specifically to the single andit are included in the single audit
section of this report.

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States require that management provide a
narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to accompany the basic financial stafements in the form of
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). This letter of transmittal is designed to complement



MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it. The District’s MD&A can be found immediately
following the report of the independent auditors.

11. Acknowledgments

We would like to express our appreciation to the members of the Middletown Township School Board
for their concern in assuring fiscal responsibility to the citizens and taxpayers of the School District and
thereby contributing their full support to the development and maintenance of our financial operation.
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ff.. C, INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Certified Pﬂl‘iﬁc ccountants & Consultants

Honorable President and Members
of the Board of Education

Middletown Township

County of Monmouth

Middletown, New Jersey 07748

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Board of Education of
the Middletown Township School District, County of Monmouth, State of New Jersey, as of and for the
year ended June 30, 2010, which collectively comprise the District’s financial statements as listed in the
table of contents. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Board’s management. Our
responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America; and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Governmental Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and audit requirements as prescribed by the
Division of Finance, Department of Education, State of New Jersey. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the andit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our epinions.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the governmental activities, each major fund and the aggregate remaining
fund information of the Board of Education of the Middletown Township School District, County of
Monmouth, State of New Jersey, as of June 30, 2010, and the respective changes in financial position and
cash flows, where applicable, for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generaily
accepted in the United States of America.

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 11,
2010, on our consideration of the Middletown Township Board of Education’s internal control over
financial reporting and our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts
and grant agreements and other matters, The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing
of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to
provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an
integral part of our audit performed in accordance with Governmental Auditing Standards and should be
considered in assessing the results of our audit.

The Management’s Discussion and Analysis information and budgetary comparison information as listed
in the table of contents is not a required part of the financial statements but are supplementary
information required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. We
have applied certain limited procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries of management
regarding the methods of measurement and presentation of the supplementary information. However, we
did not audit the information and express no opinion on it.

MEDFORD QFFICE ) TOMS RIVER OFFICE
618 Stokes Road « Medford, NJ 08055 10 Allen St., Suite 2B = Toms River, NJ 08753
Tel: 609.953.0612 - Fax: 609.953.8443 Tel: 732.797.1333 » Fax: 732.797.1022

holmanfrenia.com - 13 holmanfrenia.com



Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the Middletown Township School District’s financial statements. The accompanying
introductory section and other supplementary information such as the combining and individual fund
financial statements, long-term debt schedules and statistical tables are presented for purposes of
additional analysis and are not a required part of the financial statements. The combining and individual
fund financial stafements and long-term debt schedules have been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audit of the financial statements, in our opinion, are fairly stated, in all material respects, in
relation to the financial statements taken as a whole. The infroductory section and statistical tables have
not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and,
accordingly, we express no opinion on them.

The accompanying schedules of expenditures of federal awards and state financial assistance are
presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by U.S. Office of management and Budget
Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations and New Jersey
OMB’s Circular 04-04, Single Audit Policy for Recipients of Federal Grants, State Grants ond State Aid
respectively, and are not a required part of the financial statements. Such information has been subjected
to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, is
fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

Respectfully submitted,

HOLMAN & FRENIA, P. C.

Kevin P. Frenia

Certified Public Accountant
Public School Accountant
No. 1011

Medford, New Jersey
October 11, 2010
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REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - PART I

Management’s Discussion and Analysis







MIDDLETOWN BOARD OF EDUCATION

Management’s Discussion and Analysis
Fiscal Years Ended June 30, 2010 and 2009

This section of the Middletown Board of Education’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report presents
our discussion and analysis of the District’s financial performance during the fiscal years that ended on
June 30, 2010 and 2009. Please read it in conjunction with the transmittal letter at the front of this report
and the District’s financial statements, which immediately follow this section.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) is an element of Required Supplementary Information
specified in the Governmental Accounting Standards Board’s (GASB) Statement No. 34 - Basic
Financial Statements-Management’s Discussion and Analysis-for State and Local Governments issued in
June 1999 that is now being required by the New Jersey State Department of Education. Certain
comparative information between the current fiscal year (2009-2010) and the prior fiscal year (2008-
2009) is required to be presented in the MD&A.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an intreduction to the District’s basic financial
statements. The District’s basic financial statements comprise three components: 1) District-wide
financial statements, 2) Fund financial statements, and 3) Notes to the financial statements. This report
also contains required supplementary information and other supplementary information in addition to the
basic financial statements themselves,

District-wide firancial siatements. The district-wide financial statements are designed to provide
readers with a broad overview of the District’s finances, in a2 manner similar to a private—sector business.

The statement of net assets (A-1) preseuts information on all of the assets and liabilities of the District,
with the difference between the two reported as net assets. Over time, increases or decreases in net assets
may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the District is improving or
deteriorating,.

The statement of activities (A-2) presents information showing how the net assets of the District changed
during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net assets are reported as soon as the underlying event
giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and
expenses are reported in this statement for some itemns that will only result in cash flows in futurs fiscal
periods,

The district-wide financial statements can be found as Exhibits A~1 and A-2 in this report.

Fund finamcial statements. A fund is a group of related accounts that is used to maintain control over
resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The District, like other state and
local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal
requirements. All of the funds of the District can be divided info three categories: governmental funds,
proprietary funds and fiduciary funds.
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Governmental funds

Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reporfed as governmental
activities in the districi-wide financial statements. However, unlike the district-wide financial statements,
governmental fund financial statements focus on the near-ferm inflows and outflows of spendable
resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal year. Such
information may be useful in evaluating the District’s near-term financing requirements,

Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the district~wide financial statements, it
is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information presented
for governmental activities in the district-wide financial statements. By doing so, readers may better
understand the long-term impact of the District’s near-term financing decisions. Both the governmental
fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund
balance provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and
governmental activities,

The District maintains four individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the
governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures and
changes in fund balance for the general fund, special revenne fund, capital projects fund, and debt service
fund, all of which are considered to be major funds.

The general and special revenue funds utilize a legally adopted annual budget. A budgetary comparison
statement has been provided for the general fund and special revenue fund to demonstrate compliance
with this budget.

The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found as Exhibits B-1 through B-3 in this report.

Proprietary funds

The District maintains one proprietary fund type, an enterprise fund. The enterprise fund is used to
account for operations that are financed and operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises,
where the intent of the District is that the costs of providing goods or services be financed through user
charges. The food services enterprise fund provides for the operation of food services in all schools
within the District. The proprietary fund has been included within business-type activities in the district-
wide financial statements,

The food services fund detail financial statements can be found as Exhibits B-4 through B-6 in this report.

Fiduciary funds

Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties ontside the governmental
entity. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the district-wide financial statement because the resources of
those funds are not available to support the District's own programs.

The District uses trust and agency funds to account for resources held for student activities and groups,
for payroll transactions, student scholarship fund and for the District’s unemployment trust fund. The
basic fiduciary fund financial statements can be found as Exhibits B-7 and B-8 in this report.

Notes to the financial statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential for a full
understanding of the data provided in the district-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the
financial statements can be found after the fund financial statements in this report.

Other Information. The combining and individual fund statements referred to earlier in connection with

governmental and enterprise funds are presented immediately following the notes to the financial
statements.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
Key financial highlights for the 2009-2010 fiscal year inciude the following:

e At the conclusion of 2009-10, the District’s unrestricted General fund balance was $1,355,835,
compared to $1,594,406 at the conclusion of 2008-2009.

e  The vnrestricted General fund balance decreased $238,571 from the prior fiscal year.

e At June 30, 2010, excess surplus (as defined by the State) equals $2,343,891. The amount of
surplus utitized to fund the 2010-2011 budget was $1,211,031,

e  The State of New Jersey again delayed final state aid payments to all disiricts. This year, the
last two state aid payments were delayed. As instructed by the New Jersey Department of
Education, our final two payments totaling $2,080,925 are not recorded as receivable in the
distriet-wide financial statements. This resulted in a reduction in unresiricted General fund
balance of $2,080,925.

@  The total local tax levy increased by $4,182,092 to $123,951,368 for 2009-2010 due primarily
to the overall increase necessary to support the District’s General Fund budget.

District-wide Financial Aralysis

As noted earlier, net assets may serve over fime as a useful indicator of the District’s financial position.
The following table provides a summary of net assets for Tune 30, 2010 and 2009, respectively:

June 30, 20190:
Governmental  Business-type

Activities Activities Total
Current and other assets o $13,529,546 $138,071 $13,667,617
Capital assels, net 113,285,418 186,407 113,471,825
Total assets 126,814,964 324478 127,139,442
Long —term liabilities outstanding 76,793,965 - 79,507,886
Other liabilities 10,139,048 107,689 10,554,872
Total liabilities £6,933,013 107,689 87,040,702
Net assets:
Investment in capital assets, net of related debt 37,477,962 186,407 37,664,369
Restricted 5,472,204 - 5472,204
Unvestricted {3,068,215) 30,382 (3,037,833)
Total net assets $39,881,951 $216,789  $40,098,740
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June 30, 2009:
Governmental  Business-type

Activities Activities Total
Current and other assets $15,623,108 $191,944  $15,815,052
Capital assets, net 114,143,956 55,912 114,199,868
Total assets 129,767,064 247,836 130,014,920
Long ~term liabilities outstanding 79,507,886 - 79,507,886
Other liabilities 10,409,634 145,238 10,554,872
Total labilities 89,917,520 145,238 90,002,758
Net assets;
Investment in capital assets, net of related debt 30,953,572 55,912 31,009,484
Restricted 6,437,559 6,437,559
Unrestricted 2,458,413 46,706 2,505,119
Total net assets $39,849,544 $102,618  $39,952,162

The District’s largest net asset is the investment in capital assets, net of the related debt portion as shown
above. Investment in capital assets, net of related debt represents resources that are subject to external
restrictions on how they may be used. Within this category, the investment amount of $37,477,962
represents primarily the capital investment relating to the $78,400,000 referendum approved December
10, 1996 and the $10,500,000 referendum approved December 11, 2001. These funds are legally
restricted to provide for the construction and renovations at the District’s three middle schools and two
high schools. The investment in capital assets, net of related debt, also includes portion of capital assets
not yet fully depreciated at June 30, 2010.

Restricted net assets decreased from the prior vear to $5,472,204 at June 30, 2010 due to the decreases in
encumbrances payable, Excess Surplus, and Excess Surplus Designated for Subsequent Year, offset by
the increagse in the Capital Reserve Fund. Excess Surplus amounts decreased from the prior year due {o
the State withholding over $2.8 million of cur 2009--10 State Aid based on the surplus we had reserved for
tax relief in 2010-11 ($1,211,031) as well as reserves.

Unrestricted net assets may be used to meet the District's ongoing operating obligations to vendors,
debtors and employees. The unrestricted net assets include the unrestricted General Fund balance netted
with the amount of long-term obligations that are not invested in capital assets, such as compensated
absences. The ($3,068,215) shown as unrestricted net assets for Governmental Activities, compared to
$2,458,413 the prior year is due to an increase in the investment in capital assets while overall net assets
inereased.

At the end of the current fiscal year, the District is able to report a positive balance in fotal net assets. The
same situation held true for the prior fiscal year.

The following table provides a summary of revenues and expenses for the District’s governmental and
business-type activities and the change in net assets for June 30, 2010 and 2009. Significant variances in
revenues and expenditures from year to year, and explanations thercof, are detailed in the ‘Financial
Analysis of the District’s Funds® section later in this report.
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June 30, 2010

Revenues:

Program revenues:
Charges for services
Operating grants and contributions

General revenues:
Property taxes
Federal and state aid not restricted to

Specific purposes

Change in compensated absences payable
Miscellaneous (includes interest and tuition)

Total revenue

Expenses:;
Instructional services
Support services
Interest on long-term debt and other bond costs
Adjusiment/Reduction in Fixed Assets
Amortization of bond issuance costs
Unallocated depreciation

Total expenses

Increase (decrease) in net assets before transfers
Change in net assels

Net Assels — Beginning

Net assets — ending

Juae 30, 2009;

Revenues:

Program revenues:
Charges for services
Operating grants and contributions

General revenues:
Property taxes
Federal and state aid not restricted to

Specific purposes

Change in compensated absences payable
Miscellaneous (includes interest and tuition)

Total revenue

Expenses:
Instructional services
Support services
Interest on long-term debt and other bond costs

(Governmental Business-
Activities type Total
Activities
$1,793,480 $1,793,480
8,030,281 718,351 8,748,632
123,951,368 123,951,368
28,371,241 28,371,241
56,593 56,593
1,164,273 436 1,164,709
161,573,756 2,512,267 164,086,023
71,665,208 71,665,208
83,228,989 2,398,096 85,627,085
2,597,887 2,597,887
1,118,749 1,118,749
6,748 6,748
2,923,768 2,923,768
161,541,349 2,398,096 163.939.445
32,407 114,171 146,578
32,407 114,171 146,578
39,849,544 102,618 39,952,162
$39,881,951 $216,789 $40,098,740
Governmental Business-
Activities type Total
Activities
$1,901,977 $1,901,977
0,893,070 536,054 7,429,724
119,769,276 119,769,276
30,059,527 30,059,527
(34,386) {34,386)
1,990,048 1,873 1,991,921
158,677,535 2,440,504 161,118,039
68,768,653 68,768,653
80,986,663 2,503,332 83,489,995
3,723,019 3,723,019
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June 30, 2009 (continued):

Governmental Business-
Activities type Total

Activities
Adjustment/Reduction in Fixed Assets 97,701 97,701
Amortization of bond issuance costs 2,865,895 2,865,895
Unallocated depreciation 23,377 23,377
Total expenses 156,465,308 2,503,332 158,968,640
Inerease (decrease) in net assets before transfers 2,212,227 (62,828) 2,149,399
Change in net assets 2,212,227 (62,828) 2,149,399
Net assets — Beginning 37,637,317 165,446 37,802,763
Net assets — ending $39,849,544 $102,618 $39,952,162

Financial Analysis of the District's Funds

As noted earlier, the District uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-
related legal requirements.

Governmental Funds. The focus of the District’s governmental funds is to provide information on near-
term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the
District's financing requirements. The unreserved fund balance is divided between designated balances
and undesignated balances. The capital projects fund is restricted by state law to be spent for the purpose
of the fund and is not available for spending at the District's discretion.

Financial Information at Fiscal Year-End

The following schedule presents a summary of the general fund, special revenue fund, and debt service
fund revenues for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 and the amouni and percentage of
increases and (decreases) in relation to prior year revenues. The Capital Projects Fund has been excluded
as amounts vary substantially from year to year.

June 30, 2010

Increase Percent of
Percent {Decrease) Increase

Revenue Of Total From 2009 (Decrease)

Local sources:
District Taxes $123,951,368 76.8% $4,182,092 3.4%
Miscellaneous 1,164,066 0.7% (813,860) -62.3%
State sources 31,175,887 19.3% (1,743,289) -5.6%
Federal sources 5,225,635 3.2% 1,192,214 22.8%
Total $161,516,950 100.0% $2,819,880 1.7%
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June 30, 2009

Increase Percent of
Percent (Decrease) Increase

Revenue Of Total From 2008 {Decrease)

Local sources:
District Taxes $119,769,276 75.6% $4,281,811 3.7%
Miscellaneous 1,975,252 1.2% (867,889) -30.5%
State sources 32,919,176 20.7% (6,189,272) -15.8%
Federal sources 4,033,421 2.5% 530,647 153.1%
Total $158,697,125 100.0% (82,244,703) -1.4%

The increase in taxes was due primarily to the overall tax increase necessary to support the District’s
General Fund budget.

Miscellaneous revenue decreased primarily due to the 2008-9 realization of revenue from the release of
excess GPU rebates from the referendum, which were previcusly reserved for referendum litigation. The
rebates were transferred to Capital Reserve. Also, interest rates continued to drop, resulting in interest
earnings less than originally budgeted.

The decrease in State sources is mainly attributable to the withholding of 2009-10 State Aid of
$2,862,350, offset by the increases in on-behalf and reimbursed TPAF/Social Security contributions.

The increase in Federal sources is primarily attributable to the receipt of IDEA/ARRA funding, and
related expenditures under the federal stimulus plan. In grant accounting, revenue is recognized only to
the extent that expenditures are made,

The following schedule presents a summary of general fund, special revenue fund, and debt service fund
expenditures for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010 and 2009 and the percentage of increases and
(decreases) in relation to prior year amounts. The Capital Projects Fund has been excluded as amounts
vary substantially from year to year.

June 3¢, 2010;

Increase Percent of
Percent {Decrease) Increase

Amount Of Total From 2009 (Decrease)

Current expenditures:
Instruction $71,665,208 43.5% 2,896,555 4.1%
Undistributed 83,228,989 50.5% 2,242,326 2.7%
Capital outlay 5,141,907 - 2.3% (1,280,411) -24,9%

Debt service:

Principal 2,440,000 1.5% 105,000 4.3%
Interest 3,544,737 2.2% (106,426) -3.0%
Total $166,020,841 100.0% 2,861,414 2.3%
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June 30, 2009: Increase Percent of

Percent {Decrease) Increase
Amount Of Total TFrom 2008 {Decrease)
Current expenditures:
Instruction $68,768,653 42.5% 1,799,069 2.7%
Undistributed 80,986,663 50.0% (4,585,984) -5.4%
Capital cutlay 6,173,071 3.8% (3,430,994) -35.7%
Debt service:
Principal 2,335,000 1.4% 110,000 4.9%
Interest 3,651,163 2.3% (105,542) -2.8%
Total $161,914,550 100.0% (6,213,451) -3.7%

Instruction costs increased primarily due to contractual increases. Undistributed expenditures increased
primarily due to increases in costs for health benefits and the required payment of PERS pension costs as
well as the increase in on-behalf and reimbursed TPAF pension costs.

Capital outlay has decreased this year due to the bulk of the payments for our Elementary HVAC Progect
being paid in previous years. For the Elementary HVAC project, funded by an $8,400,000 capital lease,
$1,156,903 was expended n 2009-2010, $1,429,134 was expended in 2008-2009 and $6,011,829 in
2007-2008.

There was a minimal increase in total debt service based on existing approved bond payment schedules.

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

The difference between the original budget and the final amended budget was $1,611,246. This difference
is comprised entirely of the June 30, 2009 encumbrances, which rollover into the subsequent year’s
budget (2009-2010) and are added to the original budget appropriations.

Throughout the year, as necessary, budget transfers were effectuated between budget accounts to re-align
the 2009-2010 budget. Budget transfers were made to re-allocate district salaries as well as
transportation, health benefits, capital and tuition accounts, etc. where necessary. Budget transfers were
effectuated based on expected positive and negative budget variances. The budget is continually managed
and revised with budget transfers as necessary or practical to do so.

Based on the financial resulis of 2009-10 unrestricted fund balance decreased by $238,571 to $1,355,835
(2% required per S-1701, net of allowable adjustments).

Proprietary Funds. The District’s proprietary fund provides the same type of information found in the
district-wide financial statements, but in more detail.

The Food Services Enterprise Fund showed a gain of $114,171 in 2009-10 as compared to a loss of
$62,828 in 2008-2009. The guaranteed profit per the contract with Chartwells rose from $35,000 in the
2008-9 contract to $258,531 for 2009-10. Both operating revenues and expenses decreased by a similar
amount, but we received more funding from the State and Federal Government under the State and
National Programs due to more families becoming eligible for free and reduced meals due to the
econory. The unrestricted net assets of the food service program were $30,382 and the restricted amount
invested in capital assets, net of related debt totaled $186,407 at June 30, 2010. The food services
program continues to be self-sustaining, and does not require any appropriation of funds from the
District’s general fund budget.
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Capital Assets

At June 30, 2010 the District has capital assets of over $113 million, net of depreciation, which includes
land, land improvements, buildings/construction, machinery and equipment and vehicles,

The following provides a summary of the capital assets held by the District at June 30, 2010 and 2009:

June 30, 2010:

Governmental Business-
Type
Activities Activities
Land $16,909,500
Land lmprovements 4,443,252
Buildings / Construction 89,428,287
Machinery and Equipment 2,331,403 $186,407
Vehicles 172,976
Total $113,285,418 $186,407
June 30, 2009;
Governmental Business-
Type
Activities Activities
Land $16,909,500
Land Improvements 3,957,700
Buildings / Construction 90,511,079
Machinery and Equipment 2,525,569 $55,912
Vehicles 240,108
Total $114,143,956 $£55,912

The largest balance within the capital assets above, Buildings/Construction, is comprised of the
referendum program for the renovations/additions at the District’s three middle schools and two high
schools, as well as the construction for the Elementary HVAC Project.

Additional information on the District's capital assets can be found in Note 6 to the basic financial
statements.

Debt Administration and Other Obligations

At June 30, 2010 and 2009, the District’s outstanding debt issues included $67,350,000 and $74,275,000
respectively of general obligation bonds (2010 refunding bonds, 2002 bonds, and 2001 refunding bonds -
last payment), $8,457,456 and $8,915,384 respectively of capital leases (Sun Trust Elementary HVAC,
High School North Synthetic Turf Field, MCIA 1999 (2009 only), Savin Copiers) and $2,887,181 and
$2,943,774 respectively in compensated absences payable.

Additional information on the District’s debt administration and other obligations can be found in Note 6
to the basic financial statements,

Ecomomic Factors and Subsequent Year’s Budgets

o The District anticipates that the approved 2010-11 budget will be adequate to satisfy all 2010-11
financial needs, barring any significant unexpected situations or conditions unforeseen at this time.
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e At this time it appears that it will be a challenge to sustain the level of surplus utilization we have
used in funding budgets in recent years.

e [t is expected the State of New Jersey will again delay the final state aid payments to school
districts for 2010-1 1.

s  State aid to the District was flat for 2009-10 prior to the State withholding over $2.8 million of our
2009-10 State Aid based on the surplus we had reserved for tax relief in 2010-11 ($2,281,226) as
well as reserves, For 2010-2011, State Aid was drastically reduced by over $7 million. There is
continued concern about the provisions of the State Aid Formula as the District is currently still
receiving “adjustment aid” and it is uncertain whether or not that aid will be sustained by the State
over the long-term,

e The District continues to be negatively impacted by legislation known as 8-1701, and notably the
surplus provisions, which require districts to keep surplus at 2%. This fund balance threshold is
precariously low, and forcing a reduction to 2% every year can cause significant fluctuations in
school taxes from year to year.

e The District remains concerned about the impact of the Township’s property revaluation (new
property values in effect in 2009), on individual taxpayers as well as the outcome of some
commercial tax appeals that could negatively affect Middletown’s ratable base. The District is also
concerned about the local impact of the Country’s current economic condition, volatility and future
outlook.

Requests for Information

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Middletown School District's
finances for all those with an interest in the District’s finances. Questions concerning any of the
information provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to
the Business Administrator / Board Secretary’s Office, Middletown Board of Education, PO Box 4170,
Middletown, NJ 07748.
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A. District-Wide Financial Statements






MIDDLETOWN TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EBDUCATION

COMBINED STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

(With Comparative Totals for June 30, 2009)

ASSETS

Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash on Hand with Fiscal Agent

Receivables, Net

Other Receivables

Interfund Receivable

Inventory

Unamortized Bond Issuance Costs

Restricted Assets:

Restricted Cash & Cash

Equivalents

Capital Asgets, Net (Note 6)

Total Assets
LIABILITIES

Accounts Payable

Accrued Interest Payable

Other Liabilities

Payable to State Government

Deferred Revenue

Noncurrent Liabilities (Note 7):
Due Within One Year
Due Beyond One Year

Total Liabilities
NET ASSETS

Invested in Capital Assets, Net of
Related Debt

Restricted For:
Debt Service
Other Purposes

Unrestricted

Total Net Assets

EXHIBIT A-1

TOTALS
(MEMORANDUM ONLY)
GOVERNMENTAL BUSINESS-TYPE  JUNE 30, JUNE 30,
ACTIVITIES ACTIVITIES 2010 2009
$6,213,138 58,911 6,272,049 9,590,826
289,659 289,659 1,191,105
2,156,068 44,277 2,200,345 2,022,798
2,067,316 2,067,316 1,092,444
357,973 1,090 359,063 203
33,793 33,793 12,059
691,677 691,677 422,741
1,753,715 1,753,715 1,482,876
113,285,418 186,407  113471,825 114,199,368
126,814,964 324478 127,139,442 130,014,920
3,118,930 6,070 3,125,000 2,307,017
617,041 617,041 1,517,894
1,195,178 101,619 . 1,296,797 2,012,767
124,203 124,203 102,273
696,681 696,681 216,993
4,387,015 4,387,015 4,397,928
76,793,965 76,793,965 79,507,886
86,933,013 107,689 87,040,702 90,062,758
37,477,962 186,407 37,664,369 31,009,484
(617,029) (617,029) (1,502,621
6,089,233 6,089,233 7,940,180
(3,068,215) 30,382 (3,037,833) 2,505,119
$39,881,951 216,789 40,098,740 39,952,162

The accompanying Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this staternent.
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FUNCTIONS/PROGRAMS

Govemnmental Activities:
Instruction:
Regular
Special Education
Other Special Instruction
Other Instruction
Support Services & Undistributed Costs:
Tuition
Aitendance & Social Work Services
Health Services
Student & Instruction Related Services
Educational Media Services/School Library
Instructional Staff Training
Other Administrative Services
Central Services
Administration Information Technology Services
School Administrative Services
Plant Operations & Maintenance
Pupil Transportation
Unallocated Benefits
Interest on Long-Term Debt & Other Bond Costs
Adjustment/Reduction of Fixed Assets
Unallocated Depreciation
Amortization of Bond Issuance Costs

9¢

EXHIBIT A-2
(Page [ of 2)
MIDDLETOWN TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION
COMBINED STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010
(With Comparative Totals for June 30, 2009)

NET (EXPENSE) REVENUE AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

PROGRAM REVENUES TOTALS
OPERATING BUSINESS- (MEMORANDUM ONLY)
GRANTS & GOVERNMENTAL JUNE 30, JUNE 30,
EXPENSES SERVICES CONTRIBUTIONS  ACTIVITIES  ACTIVITIES 2010 2009
$55,004,182 4,301,631 (50,702,551) (50,702,551)  (48,686,139)
14,100,471 (14,100,471) (14,100,471)  (14,978,785)
205,748 (205,748) (205,748) (205,853)
2,354,807 (2,354,307) (2,354,307)  (1,887,986)
2,720,210 (2,720,210) (2,720,210)  (3,608,930)
44,917 (44,917) (44,917) (43,990)
2,137,857 (2,137,857) (2,137.857)  {2,051,480)
11,247,959 1,914,604 (9,333,355) (9,333,355)  (8,775,578)
545,493 (545,493) (545,493) (629,293)
379,620 (379,620) (379,620) (524,221)
1,570,465 (1,570,465) (1,570,465)  (1,792,100)
1,577,706 (1,577,706) (1,577,706)  (1,539,224)
819,694 (819,694) (819,694) (787,982)
6,819,282 (6,819,282) (6,819,282)  (6,444,702)
13,742,032 (13,742,032) (13,742,032)  (13,029,719)
9,526,916 (9,526,916) (9,526,916)  (9,760,696)
32,096,838 (32,096,838) (32,096,838)  (29,930,094)
2,597,887 1,814,046 (783,841) (783.841)  (1,908,493)
1,118,749 (1,118,749) (1,118,749) (97,701)
2,923,768 (2,923,768) (2,923,768)  (2,865,895)
6,748 (6.748) (6,748) (23,377)




EXHIBIT A-2
(Page 2 0f 2)
MIDBLETOWN TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION
COMBINED STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2610
(With Comparative Totals for June 30, 2009)

NET (EXPENSE) REVENUE AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

LT

PROGRAM REVENUES TOTALS
CHARGES  OPERATING BUSINESS. (MEMORANDUM ONLY)
FOR GRANTS & GOVERNMENTAL TYPE JUNE 30, JUNE 30,

FUNCTIONS/PROGRAMS EXPENSES SERVICES CONTRIBUTIONS  ACTIVITIES ACTIVITIES 2010 2009

Total Governmental Activities 161,541,349 8,030,281 (153,511.068) (153,511,068) (149,572,238}
Business-Type Activities:

Food Service 2,398,096 1,793,430 718,351 113,735 113,735 (64,701)

Total Business-Type Activities 2,398,096 1,793,480 718,351 113,735 113,735 {64,701}
Total Primary Government $163.939.445  1,793.480 8.748.632 (153,511,068) 113,735 (153,397,333} (149,636,939)

General Revenues:

Taxes:

Property Taxes, Levied for General Purposes, Net 119,793,275 119,793,275 115,646,343

Taxes Levied for Debt Service 4,158,093 4,158,093 4,122,931
Federal & State Aid Not Restricted 28,371,241 28,371,241 30,059,527
Tuition Received 78,950 78,950 68,138
Investment Earnings 436 436 1,873
Miscellaneous Income 1,085,323 1,085,323 1,921,910
{Increase)/Reduction in Compensated Absences 56,593 56,593 (34,386)
Total General Revenues, Special ktems, Extraordinary Items & Transfers 153,543,475 436 153545911  151.786,33
Change In Net Assets 32,407 114,171 146,578 2,149,399
Net Assets - Beginning 39,849,544 102,618 39.952,162 37.802,763
Net Assets - Ending $39.881,951 $216,7860  $40.098 740  $39.952.162

See Accompanying Notes to Financial Statements
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MIDDLETOWN TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

COMBINED BALANCE SHEET

FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016

ASSETS

Cash & Cash Equivalents

Cash on Hand with Fiscal Agent

Restricted Cash

Pue From Other Funds

Receivables From Other
Governments

Other Receivables

Total Assets
LIABILITIES & FUND BALANCES

Liabilities;
Accounts Payable
Intergovernmental - Accounts
Payable
Other Liabilities
Interfund Payable
Deferred Revenue

Total Liabilities

Fund Balances:

Reserved for:
Encumbrances
Excess Surplus
Excess Surplus Designated

for Subsequent Year

Capital Reserve

Unreserved - Reported in:
Unrestricted - Designated for

Subsequent Year's Expenditures

General Fund

Debt Service Fund

Capital Projects Fund
Total Fund Balances

Total Liabilities & Fund Balances

(With Comparative Totals for June 30, 2009)

SPECIAL  CAPITAL DEBT

EXHIBIT B-1

TOTALS
(MEMORANDUM ONLY)

Amounts reported for governmental activifies in the statement of net assets (A-1) are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and therefore are not

resources and therefore are not reported in the funds. The cost of the assests is
$157,660,335 and the accumulated depreciation is $44,374,917,

Unexpended Capital Lease Proceeds

Unamortized Bond Issuance Costs

Accrued interest payable is not recorded in the fund financial due to the fact that
payable is not due in the current period.

Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable, are not due and payable in the current period
and therefore are not reported as liabilities in the funds (see Hlustrative Note 7)

Net assets of Governmental Activities

GENERAL REVENUE PROJECTS SERVICE  JUNE 30, JUNE 30,
FUND FUND FUND FUND 2010 2009
$6,210,392 71 11 2,675 6,213,149 9,452,956
289,659 289,659 1,191,105
1,753,704 1,753,704 1,480,202
791,591 11 791,602 388,122
808,623 1,347,445 2,156,068 1,983,457
2,014,927 52,389 2,067,316 1,092,444
$11,868,896 1,399,905 11 2,680 13,271,498 15,588,286
$2,941,290 177,640 3,118,930 2,183,779
124,203 124,203 102,273
1,174,189 20,989 1,195,178 1,990,767
1,090 432,528 11 433,629 387,919
307,259 644,545 951,804 1,373,689
4,423,828 1,399,905 11 5,823,744 6,038,427
780,607 780,607 1,611,246
2,343,891 2,343,891 2,281,226
1,211,031 1,211,631 2,298,801
1,753,704 1,753,704 1,480,202
2,674 2,674 268,705
1,355,835 1,355,835 1,594,406
12 12 15,273
205,073
7,445,068 2,686 7,447,754 9,549,859
$11,868,856 1,399,505 11 2,686
113,285,418 114,143,956
255,123 1,156,696
691,677 422,741
617,041y  (1,517,894)

See Accompanying Notes to Financial Statements
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{81,180,980) (83,905,814)

$39.881,951

39,845,544




MIDDLETOWN TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
COMBINED STATEMERT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010
{With Comparative Totals for June 30, 2009)

TOTALS
SPECIAL CAPITAL DEBT (MEMOCRANDUM ONLY)
GENERAL REVENUE PROJECTS SERVICE JUNE 30, JUNE 30,
FUND FUND FUND - FUND 2010 2009
Revenues:

Local Tax Levy $119,793,275 4,158,093 123,951,368 119,769,276

Tuition Charges 78,950 78,950 68,138

Miscellaneous 1,030,953 54,152 11 1,085,116 1,909,788

State Sources 28,362,823 999,018 1,814,046 31,175,887 32,919,176

Federal Sources 59,733 5,165,902 5,225,635 4,033,421

Total Revenues 149,325,734 6,219,072 11  5972,139 161,516,956 158,699,799 ’
Expenditures:

Current:
Regular Instruction 50,702,551 4,301,631 55,004,182 51,696,029
Special Education Instruction 14,160,471 14,100,471 14,978,785
Other Special Instruction 205,748 205,748 205,853
Other Instruction 2,354,807 2,354,807 1,887,986
Support Services & Undistributed Costs:
Tuition 2,720,210 2,720,210 3,608,930
Attendance & Social Work

Services 44 917 44,917 43,990
Health Services 2,137,857 2,137,857 2,051,480
Student & Instruction Related :

Services 9,333,355 1,914,604 11,247,959 10,844,232
Educational Media Services/

School Library 545,493 545,493 629,293
Instructional Staff Training 379,620 379,620 524,221
Other Administrative Services 1,570,465 1,570,465 1,792,100
Central Services 1,577,706 1,577,706 1,539,224
Administration Information

Technology Services 819,694 819,694 787,982
School Administrative Services 6,819,282 6,819,282 6,444,702
Plant Operations & Maintenance 13,742,032 13,742,032 13,029,719
Pupil Transportation 9,526,916 9,526,916 9,760,696
Unallocated Benefits 32,096,838 32,096,838 29,930,094

Debt Service:
Principal 2,440,000 2,440,000 2,335,000
Interest 3,544,737 3,544,737 3,651,163
Capital Qutlay 5.139.070 2,837 5,141,907 0,422,318

Total Expenditures 153,817,032 6,219,072 5,984,737 166,020,841 162,163,797
Excess/(Deficiency) of Revenues

Over/(Under) Expenditures (4,491,298) 11 (12,598)  (4,503.885) (3,463,998)
Other Financing Sources/(Uses):

Capital Leases (Nonbudgeted) 2,401,780 2,401,780 2,791,171

Transfers In 11 11 2,674

Transfers Out {11) (11} (2,674}
Total Other Financing Sources/

Uses 2,401,780 (11) 11 2,401,780 2,791,171
Net Change in Fund Balances (2,089,518) (12,587 (2,102,105) (672,827
Fund Balance - July 1 9,534,586 15,273 9,549,859 10,222 686
Fund Balance - June 30 $7.445.068 - - 2.686 7.447.754 9.549.859

EXHIBIT B-2

See Accompanying Notes to Financial Staternents
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MIDDLETOWN TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

Total Net Change in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds (From B-2)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities (A-2)
are different because:

Capital outlays are reported in governmental funds as expenditures. However,
in the statement of activities, the cost of those assets is altocated over their
estimated useful lives as depreciation expense, This is the amount by which
capital outlays exceeded depreciation in the period:

Depreciation Expense
Capital Leases in Capital Outlay Expenditures & Other Adjustments
Capital Outlays

($2,923,768)

Repayment of bond principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds,
but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of nef assets
and is not reported in the statement of activities.

Interest earnings on unspent capital lease proceeds that is revenue on statement
of activities and is recorded as deferred revenue on governmental funds

Proceeds from debt issues are a financing source in the governmental funds.
They are not revenue in the statement of activities; issuing debt increases
long-term liabilities in the statement of net assets,

Bond Issuance Costs

Loss on Refunding

Original Issuance Premium

Issuance of Refunding Bonds

Lease Proceeds

Repayment of capital lease principal is an expenditure in the governmental funds,
but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net assefs and
is not reported in the statement of activities.

Net difference of accrued interest on bonds and capital leases is not recorded in the
fund financial statements

Loss on the early extinguislunents of debt, costs of issuance on refunding, and
original issue premiums are recorded when incurred in the governmental
funds but are deferred and recognized in the statement of activities over
the life of the refunding;
Amottization of Bond Issuance Costs
Amortization of Loss on Refunding
- Amortization of Qriginal Issue Premium

Repayment of compensaled ahsences is an expenditure in the governmenial funds,
but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the statement of net assets and
is not reported in the statement of activities.

Change in Net Assets of Governmental Activities

The accompanying Notes to Financial Statements are an integral part of this statement,
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EXHIBIT B-3

($2,102,105)

(3,076,677)
5,141,007 (858,538)
62,590,000
207
275,684
£,561,202
(6,321,886)
(55,665,000)
(2,401,780) (62,551,780)
1,957,928
900,853
(6,748)
(15,084)
61,081 39,249
56,593
$32,407







Proprietary Funds






EXHIBIT B-4
MIDDLETOWN TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
COMBINED STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010
(With Comparative Totals for June 30, 2009)

BUSINESS-TYPE

ACTIVITIES - TOTALS
ENTERPRISE FUNDS {(MEMORANDUM ONLY)
FOOD JUNE 30, JUNE 30,
ASSETS SERVICE 2010 2009
Current Assets:
Cash & Cash Equivalents $58,911 58,911 140,544
Due from Other Governments 44,159 44,159 37411
Due from General Fund 1,090 1,090 1,930
Other Receivables 118 118
Inventories 33,793 33,793 12,059
Total Current Assets 138,071 138,071 191,944
Noncurrent Assets:
Furniture, Machinery & Equipment 807,881 807,881 610,061
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (621,474) (621,474) (554,149)
Total Noncurrent Assets 186,407 186,407 55,912
Total Assets 324,478 324,478 247 856
LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable 6,070 6,070 123,238
Other Liabilities 101,619 101,619 22,000
Total Liabilities 107,689 107,689 145,238
NET ASSETS
Investment in Capifal Assets 186,407 186,407 55,912
Unrestricted 30,382 30,382 46,706
Total Net Assefs $216,789 216,789 102,618

See Accompanying Nofes to Financial Statements
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MIDDLETOWN TOWNSHIF BOARD OF EDUCATION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN FUND NET ASSETS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

(With Comparative Totals for June 306, 2009)

Operating Revenues:
Charges for Services:
Daily Sales - Reimbursable Programs
Daily Sales - Nonreimbursable Programs
Miscellaneous

Total Operating Revenues

Operating Expenses:
Cost of Sales
Rebates - Cost of Sales Offset
Salaries
Employee Benefits
Cleaning, Repair & Maintenance Services
Miscellaneous
General Supplies
Depreciation

Total Operating Expenses
Operating Income/{Losgs)

Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses):
State Sources:
State School Lunch Program
State School Breakfast Program
Federal Sources:
National School Lunch Program
National School Breakfast Program
Special Milk Program
Food Distribution Program
Interest & Investment Revenue
Vendor Contribution, Based on Guaranteed Profit

Tetal Nonoperating Revenues/(Expenses)
Income/{Loss) Before Contributions & Transfers

Change in Net Assets
Total Net Assets - Beginning

Total Net Assets - Ending

See Accompanying Notes to Financial Statements

BUSINESS-TYPE

EXHIBIT B-5

ACTIVITIES - TOTALS
ENTERPRISE FUNDS  (MEMORANDUM ONLY)
FOOD JUNE 30, TUNE 30,
SERVICE 2010 2009
$1,074,225 1,074,225 1,083,720
704,573 704,573 788,378
14,682 14,632 29,879
1,793,480 1,793,430 1,901,977
1,143,636 1,143,636 1,183,743
(140,366) (140,366)

755,905 755,905 729,305
276,387 276,387 253,286
105,940 105,940 110,126
76,987 76,987 90,244
112,282 112,282 98,262
67,325 67,325 38,366
2,398,096 2,398,096 2,503,332
(604,616) (604,616) (601,355)
32,734 32,734 30,622

2,035 2,035 2,057
449,950 449,950 378,428
22,275 22,275 21,782

296 296 3,771

146,422 146,422 99,994

436 436 1,873

64,639 64,639

718,787 718,787 538,527
114,171 114,171 (62,828)
114,171 114,171 (62,828)
102,618 102,618 165,446
$216,789 216,789 102,618
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EXHIBIT B-6
MIDDLETOWN TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS
COMBINED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 39, 2010
(With Comparative Totals for June 30, 2009)

BUSINESS-TYPE

ACTIVITIES - TOTALS
ENTERPRISE FUNDS (MEMORANDUM ONLY)
FOOD JUNE 30, JUNE 30,
SERVICE 2010 2009
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Receipts from Customers $1,801,884 1,801,884 1,900,164
Payments to Employees {755,905 {755,905) (729,305)
Payments for Employee Benefits (276,387) (276,387) (253,280)
Payments to Suppliers (1,290,958) (1,290,958) (1,328,381)
Net Cash Provided/(Used) by Operating Activities (521,366) (521,366) (410,808)
Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities:
State Sources 34,526 34,526 32,126
Federal Sources 466,015 466,015 394,197
Vendor Contribution, Based on Guaranteed Profit 64,639 64,639
Net Cash Provided/(Used} by Noncapital
Financing Activilies 565,180 565,180 426,323
Cash Flows From Capital & Related Financing Activities:
Purchases of Capital Assets (125,383) (125,883) (11,000)
Net Cash Provided/{(Used) by Capital &
Related Financing Activities {125,883) (125,883) (11,000)
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Interest & Dividends 436 436 1,873
Net Cash Provided/(Used) by Investing Activities 436 436 1,873
Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents {81,633) (81,633) 6,388
Balances - Beginning of Year 140,544 140,544 134,156
Balances - End of Year $58,911 58,911 140,544

Reconciliation of Operating Income/(Loss) to Net Cash Provided/(Used) by Operating Activities:

Onperating Income/(Loss) ($604,616) (604,616) (601,355)
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income/(Loss)
to Net Cash Provided/(Used) by Operating Activitics:

Depreciation & Net Amortization 67,325 67,325 38,306
Food Distribution Program 146,422 146,422 99,994
(Increase)/Decrease in Accounis Receivable, Net 122 722 (1,813)
(Increase)/Decrease in Inventories (21,733) (21,733) 8,969
Vendor Confribution, Based on Guaranteed Profit 7,682 7,682
Increase/(Decrease) in Accounts Payable (117,168) (117,168) 45,031
Total Adjustments 83,250 83,250 190,547
Net Cash Provided/(Used) by Operating Activities ($321,366) ({521,366) (410,808)

See Accompanying Notes to Financial Statements
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Fiduciary Fund
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EXHIBIT B-7
MIDBLETOWN TCWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
COMEINED STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010
(With Comparative Totals for June 30, 2609)

PRIVATE PURPQSE AGENCY TOTALS
UNEMPLOYMENT STUDENT (MEMORANDUM ONLY)
COMPENSATION SCHOLARSHIP PAYROLL ACTIVITY ACTIVITY JUNE 30, JUNE 30,
ASSETS TRUST FUND FUND FUND FUND 2010 2009
Cash & Cash Equivalents $1,249.209 658,015 1,225,756 446,230 13 3,579,223 3,344,794
Interfund Receivable 133,262 133,262 128,285
Total Assets 1,382,471 658,015 1,225,756 446,230 13 3,712,485 3,473,079
LIABILITIES
Payable for Student Related Activities 446,230 13 446,243 461,804
Payroll Deductions & Withholdings 1,090,791 1,090,791 852,342
Interfund Payable 357,360 134,965 492 325 130,418
Total Liabilities 357.360 1,225,756 446,230 13 2,029,359 1,544,564
NET ASSETS
Held in Trust for Unemployment Claims
& Other Purposes 1,025,111 1,025,111 1,246,169
Reserved for Scholarships 638,015 658,013 682,346
Total Net Assets $1.025.111 658.015 - - - 1,683,126 1.928.515

See Accompanying Notes to Financial Statements



EXHIBIT B-8

MIDDLETOWN TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION

FIDUCIARY FUNDS

COMBINED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2010

ADDITIONS:

Contributions:
Other

Total Contributions

Investment Earnings:
Interest

Net Investment Earnings

Total Additions

DEDUCTIONS:

Quarterly Contribution Reports
{Unemployment Claims
Scholarships Awarded

Total Deductions
Change in Net Assets
Net Assets - Beginning of
the Year

Net Assets - End of the Year

(With Comparative Totals for June 30, 2009)

PRIVATE PURPOSE TOTALS
UNEMPLOYMENT (MEMORANDUM ONLY)
COMPENSATION SCHOLARSHIP  JUNE 30, JUNE 30,

TRUST FUND 2010 2009

$133,262 34,565 167,827 170,425

133,262 34,565 167,827 170,425
3,040 3,929 6,969 20,533
3,040 3,929 6,969 20,533
136,302 38,494 174,796 190,958
357,360 357,360 246,493
62,825 62,875 71,350
357,360 62,825 420,185 317,843
(221,058) (24,331) (245,389) (126,885)
1,246,169 682,346 1,928,515 2,055,400
$1,025,111 658,015 1,683,126 1,928,515

See Accompanying Notes to Financial Statements
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MIDDLETOWN TOWNSHIP BOARD OF EDUCATION
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2010

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The accompanying financial statements of the Middletown Township Board of Education have been
prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles as prescribed by the Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB). In June 1999 the GASB issued Statement 34 Basic Financial
Statements — and Management's Discussion and Analysis — for State and Local Governments. 'This
statement established new f{inancial reporting requirements for state and local governmental entities
throughout the United States. They require new information and restructure much of the information that
governments have presented in the past. Comparability with reports issued in prior years is affected.

The District has implemented these standards for the fiscal year-ending June 30, 2002 and forward. With
the implementation of GASB Statement 34, the District has prepared required supplementary information
titled Management's Discussion and Analysis, which precedes the basic financial statements.

Other GASB Statements are required to be implemented in conjunction with GASB Statement 34,
Therefore, the District has implemented the following GASB Statements in the current fiscal year:
Statement 33 — Accounting and Financial Reporting for Nomexchange Transactions; Statement 36 —
Recipient Reporting for Certain Shared Nonexchange Revernues; Statement 37 - Basic Financial
Statements — and Management's Discussion and Analysis — for State and Local Governments: Omnibus
and Statement 38 — Certain Financial Statement Note Disclosures; Statement 40 — Deposit and
Investment Risk Disclosures and Statement 44 — Economic Condition Reporting — The Statistical Section.
Statement 45 — Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Postemployment Benefits Other
than Pensions.

The accompanying financial statements present the financial position of the District and the various
funds and fund types, the results of operations of the District and the various funds and fund types, and
the cash flows of the proprietary funds. The financial statements are presented as of June 30, 2010 and
for the year then ended and for the year then ended with comparative totals as of and for the year ended
June 30, 2009 (Memorandum Ounly).

A. Reporting Entity:

The Middletown Township Board of Education is a Type I district located in the County of Monmouth,
State of New Jersey. As a Type II district, the School District functions independently through a Board
of Education. The Board is comprised of nine members appointed to three-year terms. These terms are
staggered so that three members’ terms expire each year. The District provides a full range of
educational services appropriate to grade levels K through 12. These include regular, vocational, as well
as special education for handicapped youngsters. The Middletown Township Board of Education has an
approximate enrcliment at June 30, 2010 of 10,248 students.

The primary criterion for including activities within the District’s reporting entity, as set forth in Section

2100 of the GASB Codification of Governmental Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards, is
whether:
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies {continuwed):

the organization is legally separate (can sue or be sued in their own name)

the District holds the corporate powers of the organization

the District appoints a voting majority of the organization’s board

the District is able to impose its will on the organization

the organization has the potential to impose a financial benefit/burden on the District
there is a fiscal dependency by the organization on the District

® B S 9 @ @

Based on the aforementioned criteria, the District has no component units.
B. District-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

The district-wide financial statements (the statement of net assets and the statement of activities) report
information of all of the nonfiduciary activities of the District. For the most part, the effect of interfund
activity has been removed from these district-wide statements. District activities, which normally are
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities,
which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function,
segment or component unit are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly
identifiable with a specific function, segment, or component unit. Program revenues include charges to
customers who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods or services provided by a given function,
segment or component unit. Program revenues also include grants and contributions that are restricted to
meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function, segment, or component unit.
Taxes and other items not properly included among program revenues are reported instead as general
revenues. The District does not allocate general government (indirect) expenses to other functions.

Net assets are restricted when constraints placed on them are either externally imposed or are imposed by
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. Internally imposed designations of resources are not
presented as restricted net assets. When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use,
generally it is the District’s policy to use restricted resources first, and then unrestricted resources as they
are needed.

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, fiduciary funds and
similar component units, and major component units. However, the fiduciary funds are not included in
the district-wide statements. Major individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise fands
are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements.

C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation

District-Wide Financial Statements — The governmental fund financial statements are reported using
the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded
when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related
cash flows. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements
imposed by the provider have been met.
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued):
C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation (continued):

Governmental Fund Financial Statements — The Governmental fund financial statements are reported
using the current financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.
Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to
be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay
liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the District considers revenues to be available if they
are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal year-end. Principal revenue sources
considered susceptible to accrual include federal and state grants, interest on investments, tuition and
transportation. Other revenues are considered to be measurable and available only when cash is received
by the state.

Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting.

D. Fund Accounting:

The accounts of the Middletown Township Board of Education are maintained in accordance with the
principles of fund accounting to ensure observance of limitations and restrictions on the resources
available. The principles of fund accounting require that rescurces be classified for accounting and
reporting purposes into funds or account groups in accordance with activities or objectives specified for
the resources. The operations of each fund are accounted for with a separate set of self-balancing
accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues and expenditures or expenses, as
appropriate. Government resources are allocated to and accounted for in individual funds based upon the
purposes for which they are to be spent and the means by which spending activities are controlled. An
account group, on the other hand, is a financial reporting device designed to provide accountability for
certain assets and liabilities that are not recorded in the funds because they do not directly affect net
expendable available financial resources. The various finds and accounts are grouped, in the financial
statements in this report, into seven fund types within three broad fund categories and two account
groups as follows:

Governmental Funds

General Fund - The general fund is the general operating fund of the Middletown Township
Board of Education and is used to account for all financial resources except those required to
be accounted for in another fund. Included are certain expenditures for vehicles and movable

instructional or noninstructional equipment which are classified in the Capital Outlay sub-
fund.

As required by the New Jersey Depariment of Education Middletown Township Board of
Education includes budgeted Capital Qutlay in this fund, Generally accepted accounting
principles as they pertain to governmental entities state that General Fund resources may be
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued):
Governmental Funds {continued}:

used to directly finance capital outlays for long-lived improvements as long as the resources
in such cases are derived exclusively from unrestricted revenues.

Resources for budgeted capital outlay purposes are normally derived from State of New
Jersey Aid, interest earnings and appropriated fund balance. Expenditures are those that
result in the acquisition of or additions to fixed assets for land, existing buildings,
improvements of grounds, construction of buildings, additions to or remodeling of buildings
and the purchase of built-in equipment. These resources can be transferred from and to
Current Expense by board resolution.

Special Revenue Fund - The Special Revenue Fund is used to account for the proceeds of
specific revenue from State and Federal Government, (other than major capital projects, Debt
Service or the Enterprise Funds) and local appropriations that are legally restricted to
expenditures for specified purposes.

Capital Projects Fund - The capital projects fund is used to account for all financial
resources o be used for the acquisition or construction of major capital facilities (other than
those financed by proprietary funds).

Debt Service Fund - The debt service fund is used to account for the accumulation of
resources for, and the payment of principal and interest on bonds issued to finance major
property acquisition, construction and improvement programs.

Proprietary Fund

The focus of Proprictary Fund measurement is upon determination of net income, financial position
and cash flows. The gencrally accepted accounting principles applicable are those similar to
businesses in the private sector. The following is a description of the Proprietary Funds of the
District: '

Enterprise - The enterprise fund is used to account for the operations that are financed and
operated in a manner similar to a private business enterprise. The costs of providing goods
or services are financed primarily through user charges; or, where the District has decided
that periodic determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred, and/or net income is
appropriate for capital maintenance, public policy, management control, accountability or
other purposes.
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued):
Proprietary Fund (continued):
The District’s Enterprise Fund is comprised of the Food Service Fund.

ATl Proprietary funds are accounted for on a cost of services or “capital maintenance”
measurement focus. This means that all assets and all liabilities, whether current or
noncurrent, associated with their activity are included on their balance sheets. Their reported
fund equity (net total assets) is segregated into contributed capital and unreserved retained
earnings, if applicable. Proprietary fund type operating statements present increases
(revenues) and decreases (expenses) in net total assets.

Depreciation of all exhaustive fixed assets used by proprietary funds is charged as an
expense against their operations. Accumulated depreciation is reported on proprietary fund
balance sheets. Depreciation has been provided over the estimated useful lives using the
straight-line-method. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Food Service Fund:
Equipment 5-20 Years

Fiduciary Fund

Fiduciary funds are used to account for assets held by a governmental entity for other parties (either
as trustee or as an agent) and that cannot be used to finance the governmental entity’s own operating
programs which includes private purpose trust funds and agency funds

Private Purpose Trust Funds are used to account for the principal and income for trust
arrangements that benefit individuals, private organizations, or other governments. The
District currently maintains an Unemployment Trust Fund as a private purpose trust.

Agency Funds are assets held by a governmental entify (either as trustee or as an agent) for
other parties that cannot be used to finance the governmental entity’s own operating

programs, The District currently maintains Payroil funds and Student Activity Funds as
Agency Funds

E. Basis of Accounting:

The accounting and financial reporting treatment applied to a fund is determined by its measurement
focus. All governmental funds and private purpose trust funds are accounted for using a current financial
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Note I. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued):

resources measurement focus. With this measurement focus, only current assets and current Habilities
generally are included on the balance sheet. Operating statements of these funds present increases (i.e.,
revenues and other financing sources) and decreases (i.e., expenditures and other financing uses) in net
current assets.

All proprietary funds are accounted for on a flow of economic resources measurement focus. With this
measurement focus, all assets and all liabilities associated with the operation of these funds are included
on the balance sheet. Fund equity (i.e., net total assets) is segregated into contributed capital and retained
earnings components. Proprietary fund-type operating statements present increases (i.e., revenues) and
decreases (i.e., expenses) in net total assets.

The modified accrual basis of accounting is used for measuring financial position and operating results of
all governmental fund types, expendable trust funds and agency funds. Under the modified accrual basis
of accounting, revenues are recognized when they become both measurable and available. “Measurable”
means the amount of the transaction can be determined and “available” means collectible within the
current period or soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current period. State
equalization monies are recognized as revenue during the period in which they are appropriated. A one-
year availability period is used for revenue recognition for all other governmental fund revenues.
Expenditures are recognized in the accounting period in which the fund liability is incurred, except for
principal and interest on general long-term debt which are recorded when due.

In its accounting and financial reporting, the Middletown Township Board of Education follows the
pronouncements of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) and the pronouncements of
the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) and its predecessor organizations issued on or before
November 30, 1989, unless they conflict with or contradict GASB pronouncemenis. The Middletown
Township Board of Education’s proprietary funds have elected not to apply the standards issued by
FASB after November 30, 1989,

The accrual basis of accounting is used for measuring financial position and operating results of
proprietary fund types and private purpose trust funds. Under this method, revenues are recognized in
the accounting period in which they are earned and expenses are recognized when they are incurred.

F. Budgets/Budgetary Control;

Annual appropriated budgets are prepared in the spring of each year for the general, special revenue and
debt service funds. The budgets are submitted to the county office and are voted upon at the annual
school election on the third Tuesday in April. Budgets are prepared using the modified accrual basis of
accounting. The legal level of budgetary control is established at line item accounts within each fund.
Line item accounts are defined as the lowest (most specific) level of detail as established pursuant to the
minimum chart of accounts referenced in N.J A.C.64:23-1.2. All budget amendments must be approved
by School Board resolution.
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued):

Formal budgetary integration into the accounting system is employed as a management control device
during the year. For governmental funds there are no substantial differences between the budgetary basis
of accounting and generally accepted accounting principles with the exception of the legally mandated
revenue recognition of the last state aid payment for budgetary purposes only and the special revenue
fund as noted below. Encumbrance accounting is also employed as an extension of formal budgetary
integration in the governmental fund types. Unencumbered appropriations lapse at fiscal year-end.

The accounting records of the special revenue fund are maintained on the prant accounting budgetary
basis. The grant accounting budgetary basis differs from GAAP in that the grant accounting budgetary
basis recognizes encumbrances as expenditures and also recognizes the related revenues, whereas the
GAAP basis does not. Sufficient supplemental records are maintained to allow for the presentation of
GAAP basis financial reports.

The budget, as detailed on Exhibit C-1, includes all amendments to the adopted budget, if any.

The following presents a reconciliation of the special revenue fund revenues and expenditures from the
budgetary basis of accounting as presented in the Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and
Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual — General, Special Revenues and Debt Service Funds to
the GAAP basis of accounting as presented in the Combined Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and
Changes in Fund Balances - All Governmental Fund Types:

Notes to Required Supplementary Information.
Budgetary Comparison Schedule

Explanation of Differences between Budgetary Inflows and Outflows and GAAP Revenues and
expenditures.
General Fund Special Revenue Fund
Sources/Inflows of Resources
Actual amounts (budgetary) “revenues” from
the budgetary comparison schedules $149,918,705 $6,752,517
Difference — Budget to GAAP:
Grant accounting budgetary basis differs from
GAAP in that encumbrances are recognized as
expenditures and the related revenue is recognized (533,445)

State aid payment recognized for GAAP statements
in the current year, previously recognized
for budgetary purposes 1,487,954

State aid payment recognized for budgetary

purposes, not recognized for GAAP Statements
until the subsequent vear (2.080.925)
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General Fund Special Revenue Fund

Total revenue as reported on the statement of revenues,
expenditures and changes in fund balances -

governmental funds $149.325.734 $6.219.072

Uses/Outflows of Resoureces
Actual amounts (budgetary basis) “total outflows”
from the budgetary comparison schedule $153,817,032 $6,752,517
Differences — budget to GAAP:
Encumbrances for supplies and equipment ordered but
not received are reported in the year the order is placed
for budgetary purposes, but in the year the supplies
are received for financial reporting purposes (533.445)

Total expenditures as reported on the statement of
revenues; expenditures and changes in fund balances —

governmental funds $153.817,032 $6,219,072

G. Encumbrances:

Under encumbrance accounting purchase orders, contracts and other commitments for the expenditure of
resources are recorded to reserve a portion of the applicable appropriation. Open encumbrances in
governmental funds other than the special revenue fund are reported as reservations of fund balances at
fiscal year-end as they do not constitute expenditures or liabilities but rather commitments related to
unperformed contracts for goods and services.

Open encumbrances in the special revenue fund for which the Middletown Township Board of Education
has received advances are reflected in the balance sheet as deferred revenues at fiscal year-end.

The encumbered appropriation authority carries over into the next fiscal year. An entry will be made at
the beginning of the next fiscal year to increase the appropriation reflected in the certified budget by the
outstanding encumbrance amonnt as of the current fiscal year-end.

H. Cash, Cash Equivalents and Investments:
Cash and Cash equivalents include petty cash, change funds, cash in banks and all highly lquid
investments with a maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase and are stated at cost plus

accrued interest. U.S. Treasury and agency obligations and certificates of deposit with maturities of one
year or less when purchased are stated at cost. All other investments are stated at fair value,
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued):

New Jersey School Districts are limited as to the types of investments and types of financial institutions
they may invest in. N.J.S. 184:20-37 provides a list of permissible investments that may be purchased by
New Jersey school districts.

Additionally, the District has adopted a cash management plan that requires it to deposit public funds in
public depositories protected from loss under the provisions of the Governmental Unit Deposit Protection
Act (“GUDPA™). GUDPA was enacted in 1970 to protect Governmental Units from loss of funds on
deposit with a failed banking institution in New Jersey.,

NJ.S.A.17:9-41 et. Seq. establishes the requirements for the security of deposits of governmental units.
The statute requires that no governmental unit shall deposit public funds in a public depository unless
such funds are secured in accordance with the Act. Public depositories include Savings and Loan
institutions, banks (both state and national banks) and savings banks the deposits of which are federally
insured. All public depositories must pledge collateral, having a market value at least equal to five
percent of the average daily balance of collected public funds, to secure the deposits of Governmental
Units. If a public depository fails, the collateral it has pledged, plus the collateral of all other public
depositories, is available to pay the full amount of their deposits to the Governmental Units.

I. Tuition Receivable/Payable

Tuition charges were established by the Board of Education based on estimated costs. The charges are
subject to adjustment when the final costs have been determined.

These adjustments are recorded upon certification by the State Board of Education, which is normally
three years following the contract year. The cumulative adjustments through June 30, 2010, which have
not been recorded, are not determinable.

The tuition rate adjustments for the years 2006-2007 have been established. According to the School
District’s records, these amounts of adjustments are immaterial to the financial statements.

J. Inventories & Prepaid Expenses

Inventories are valued at cost, which approximates market. The costs are determined on a first-in, first-
out method.

The cost of inventories in governmental fund types is recorded as expenditures when purchased rather
than when consumed.

Prepaid expenses, which benefit future periods, other than those recorded in the enterprise funds, are

recorded as expenditure during the year of purchase. Prepaid expenses in the enterprise fund represent
payments made to vendors for services that will benefit periods beyond June 30, 2010.
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued):
K. Short-Term Interfund Receivables/Payables

Short-term interfund receivables/payables represent amounts that are owed, other than charges for goods
or services rendered to/from a particular fund in the Middletown Township Board of Education and that
are due within one year.

L. Fixed Assets:

General fixed assets acquired or constructed during the year are reported in the applicable governmental
or business-type activities columns in the district-wide financial statements. The District defines fixed
assets as assets, which have a cost in excess of $2,000 at the date of acquisition and a useful life of one
year or more. Donated fixed assets are valued at their estimated fair market value on the date received.
The general fixed assets acquired or constructed were valued by an independent appraisal company.
General fixed assets, such as land and buildings, are valued at the historical cost basis and through
estimated procedures performed by an independent appraisal company, respectively,

General fixed assets are reflected as expenditures in the applicable governmental funds. Depreciation
expense is recorded in the district-wide financial statements as well as the proprietary fund. Capital
assets are depreciated on the straight-line method over the assets’ estimated useful life. There is no
depreciation recorded for land and construction in progress. Generally estimated useful lives are as
follows:

Machinery and Equipment 3 - 20 Years
Building & Other Improvements 5 - 50 Years
Vehicles 5—10 Years

M. Acerued Salaries and Wages

District employees, who provide services to the District over the ten-month academic year and extended
eleven-month calendar, do not have the option to have their salaries disbursed during the entire twelve-
month year. Therefore, there is no accrual as of June 30, 2010 for such salaries.

N. Compensated Absences

Compensated absences are those absences for which employees will be paid, such as vacation, sick leave
and sabbatical leave. A liability for compensated absences that are attributable to services already
rendered, and that are not contingent on a specific event that is outside the control of the District and its
employees, is accrued as the employees earn the rights to the benefits. Compensated absences that relate
to future services, or that are contingent on a specific event that is outside the control of the District and
its employees, are accounted for in the period in which such services are rendered or in which such
events take place.
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In the District-Wide financial statements, under governmental activities, compensated absences are
reported as an expenditure and noncurrent liabilities.

0. Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue in the special revenue fund represents cash, which has been received but not yet
earned.

P. Long-term Obligations

In district-wide financial statements, under governmental activities, long-term debt is recognized as a
liability in the general fund as debt is incurred,

Q. Fund Equity

Reserves represent those portions of fund equity not appropriable for expenditure or legally segregated

for a specific future use. Designated fund balances represent plans for future use of financial resources.

In accordance with State of New Jersey statutes, the fund balance to be utilized in the subsequent year
budget is not legally restricted and therefore has been classified as fund balance designated for
subsequent year’s expenditures and is not reserved.

Nete 2. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments

The District is governed by the deposit and investment limitations of New Jersey state law. The Deposits
and investments held at June 30, 2010, and reported at fair value are as follows:

Carrying
Type Value
Deposits:
Demand Deposits $11,894.646
Total Deposits $11.894.646
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Note 2. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments (continued):

Carrying
Type Value
Reconciliation of Statements of Net Assets:
Governmental Funds $ 8,256,512
Proprietary Fund 58,911
Fiduciary Fund 3,579,223
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents $11.894.646

Custodial Credit Risk - Deposits in financial institutions, reported as components of cash, cash
equivalents and investments had a bank balance of $14,204,116 at June 30, 2010. Of the bank balance
$515,762 was fully insured by depository insurance and $13,688,354 was secured by a collateral pool
held by the bank, but not in the District’s name, as required by New Jersey statutes.

Investment Interest Rate Risk — The District has no formal investment policy that limits investment
maturities as a means of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates.
Maturities of investment held at June 30, 2010, are provided in the above schedule.

Investment Credit Risk — The District has no investment policy that limits its investment choices other
than the limitation of state law as follows:

e Bonds or other obligations of the United States of America or obligations guaranteed by the
United States of America,

e  (Government money market mutual funds;

s Any obligation that a federal agency or federal instrumentality has issued in accordance with an
act of Congress, which security has a maturity date not greater than 397 days from the date of
purchase, provided that such obligations bear a fixed rate of interest not dependent on any index
or other external factor;

e Bonds or other obligations of the school district or bonds or other obligations of the local unit or
units within which the School District is located;

e Bonds or other obligations, having a maturity date of not more than 397 days from the date of
purchase, approved by the Division of Investment in the Department of Treasury for investment
by the School District;
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Note 2. Cash and Cash Equivalents ard Investments (continued):
e Local Governments investment pools;

o  Deposits with the State of New Jersey Cash Management Fund established pursuant to section 1
of P.L. 1977, ¢.281; or

e Agreements for the repurchase of fully collateralized securities,

Concentration of Investment Credit Risk — The District places no limit on the amount it may invest in
any one issuer. At June 30, 2010, all of the District’s investments are with NJARM, New Jersey Cash
Management Fund.

Note 3. Governmental Unit Deposit Protection Act (GUDPA)

The District has deposited cash in 2010 with an approved public fund depository qualified under the
provisions of the Government Unit Deposit Protection Act. In addition to savings and checking accounts
the District invests monies in certificates of deposits.

The Governmental Unit Deposit Protection Act P.L. 1970, Chapter 236, was passed to afford protection
against bankruptcy or default by a depository. C.17:9-42 provides that no governmental unit shall
deposit funds in a public depository unless such funds are secured in accordance with this act. C.17:9-42
provides that every public depository having public funds on deposit shall, as security for such deposits,
maintain eligible collateral having a market value at least equal o either (1) 5% of the average daily
balance of collected public funds on deposit during the 6 month period ending on the next preceding
valuation date (June 30 or December 31) or (2) at the election of the depository, at least equal to 5% of
the average balance of collected public funds on deposit on the first, eighth, fifteenth, and twenty-second
days of each month in the 6 month period ending on the next preceding valuation date (June 30 or
December 31). No public depository shall be required to maintain any eligible collateral pursuant to this
act as security for any deposit or deposits of any governmental unit to the extent such deposits are
insured by F.D.L.C. or any other U.S. agency which insures public depository funds.

No public depository shall at any time receive and hold on deposit for any period in excess of 15 days
public funds of a governmental unit(s) which, in the aggregate, exceed 75% of the capital funds of the
depository, unless such depository shall, in addition to the security required to be maintained under the
paragraph above, secure such excess by eligible collateral with a market value at least equal to 100% of
such excess.

In the event of a default, the Commissioner of Banking within 20 days after the default occurrence shall

ascertain the amount of public funds on deposit in the defaulting depository and the amounts covered by
federal deposit insurance and certify the amounts to each affected governmental unit. Within 10 days
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Note 3. Governmental Unit Deposit Protection Act (GUDPA) (continued):

after receipt of this certification, each unit shall furnish to the Commissioner verified statements of its
public deposits. The Commissioner shall ascertain the amount derived or to be derived from the
liquidation of the collateral maintained by the defaulting depository and shall distribute such proceeds
pro rata among the governmental units to satisfy the net deposit liabilities to such units.

If the proceeds of the sale of the collateral are insufficient to pay in full the liability to all affected
governmental units, the Commissioner shall assess the deficiency against all other public depositories
having public funds on deposit determined by a formula determined by law. All sums collected by the
Commissioner shall be paid to the governmental units having deposits in the defaulting depository in the
proportion that the net deposit liability to each such governmental unit bears to the aggregate of the net
deposit liabilities to all such governmental units.

All public depositories are required to furnish information and reports dealing with public funds on
deposit every six months, June 30th and December 31st, with the Commissioner of Banking. Any public
depository which refuses or neglects to give any information so requested may be excluded by the
Commissioner from the right to receive public funds for deposit until such time as the Commissioner
shall acknowledge that such depository has furnished the information requested.

Upon review and approval of the Certification Statement that the public depository complies with
statutory requirements, the Commissioner issues forms approving the bank as a municipal depository.
The District should request copies of these approval forms semiannually to assure that all depositories
are complying with requirements.

Note 4. Capital Reserve Aceount

The Middletown Township Board of Education established a capital reserve account by inclusion of
$1.00 on August 22, 2000 for the accumulation of funds for use as capital outlay expenditures in
subsequent fiscal years. The capital reserve account is maintained in the general fund and its activity is
included in the general fund annual budget.

Funds placed in the capital reserve account are restricted to capital projects in the district’s approved
Long Range Facilities Plan (LRFP). Upon submission of the LRFP to the department, a district may
increase the balance in the capital reserve by appropriating funds in the annual general fund budget
certified for taxes or by transfer by Board resolution at year-end of any unanticipated revenue or
unexpended line-item appropriation amounts, or both. A District may also appropriate additional
amounts when the express approval of the voters has been obtained either by a separate proposal at
budget time or by a special question at one of the four special elections authorized pursuant to
N.JS.A.19:60-2. Pursuant to N.J.A.C.6.234-14.1(g), the balance in the account cannot at any time
exceed the local support costs of uncompleted capital projects in its approved LRFP. As of June 30, 2010
the District’s Long Range Facilities Plan projected total cost is $274,936,376.

The activity of the capital reserve for the July 1, 2009 to June 30, 2010 fiscal year is as follows:
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Note 4, Capital Reserve Account (continned):

Beginning Balance, July 1, 2609 $1,480,202
Increased by:
Budget 268,705
Interest 4,797
Ending Balance, June 30, 2010 $1.753,704

Note 5. Transfers to Capital Projects

During the year ending June 30, 2010, the Disfrict transferred § -0- to the capital projects fund for
NISCC grants.

Note 6. Fixed Assets

The following schedule is a summarization of the general fixed assets by source for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2010:

June 30, June 30,
2009 Additions Deletions 2610

Land § 16,909,500 $ 16,909,500
Land Improvements 5,759,698 & 722,527 6,482,225
Construction 120,083,838 9,134,997 . 129,218,835
Construction in Progress 7,943,286 $(7,943,286)
Machinery & Equipment 4,603,111 313,335 (710.140) 4,206,306
Licensed Vehicles 843,469 843,469

Subtotal 156,142,902 10,170,859 (8,653,426) 137,660,335
Accumuliated Depreciation_ (41,988,946) (2,923 .768) 547,797 (44.374.917)
Total $114,143956 § 7247091 $(8.105.629 $113.285418

The following is a summary of proprietary fund type fixed assets at June 30, 2010:

June 30, June 30,
2009 Additions 2010
Machinery and Equipment $610,061 $197,820 $807,881
Less: Accumulated Depreciation {554,149 (67,325) (621.474)
Net Fixed Assets $ 55912 $i30.495 $186,407
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Note 7. Long-Term Debt

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010 the following changes occurred in liabilities reported in the
long-term debt:

Balance Accrued/ Retired/ Net Balance Due Within
6/30/09 Increases Decreases  Adjustment 6/30/10 One Year
Compensated Absences
Payable $ 2,943,774 $ {56,593) $ 2,887,181
Bonds Payable 72,046,656 $55,605,000 (62,590,000) $4,714,687 69,836,343 $3,315,000
Obligations Under
Capital Leases _ 8915384 1,500,000 {1.957.928) 8.457.456 1,072,015
Total $83.905.814 $57,165,000 $(64.604,521) 4,714,687 $81,180,980 $4.387.015
Bonds Payable

The voters of the municipality through referendums authorize bonds in accordance with state law. All
bonds are retired in serial installments within the statutory period of usefulness.

Advance Refunding of School Bonds, Series 1997

During February 2001, the Board of Education had a partial defeasance of the 1997 Series Bonds. The
Board issued $67,200,000 of general obligation refunding bonds Series 2001 to provide resources to
purchase U.S. Government Securities that were placed in an irrevocable trust for the purpose of
generating resources for all future debt service payments of the refunded debt. As a result, the refunded
bonds are considered to be defeased and the liability has been removed from the general long-term debt.
In summary, the advance refunding of outstanding callable 1997 school bond